At the end of the eighteen-century, the Ottoman
central government had little control over the Bal-
kans, as virtually independent warlords ruled over
peninsula. The region of Western Macedonia, Mali-
sor and Epirus was thrown into a state of anarchy and
corruption. This caused an influx of Christians into
Bitola/Manastir from the surrounding areas, a trend
which intensified from the end of the eigteen century
onwards. A large number of these people came from
the Vlach population of Moschopoli, Gramos and
Hlerin/Filurina. They rapidly increased the percent-
age of the Christian population in the city of Manastir.
Thus the city witnessed profound transformations in
the religious, social, and economic life and in its ur-
ban fabric. The city reflected the changes in the Ot-
toman Empire during the nineteen century. Muslims
were the largest religious group in Manastir, but they
were not a majority, with the city’s environs mainly
settled by Christians. The city had a very fluid popu-
lation, composed of people employed by the state,
military men, merchants, students, day workers and
craftsmen. Starting from 1830 the city was densely
populated. In its streets a variety of languages was to
be heard. The sleepy eighteen century small mediae-
val town was transformed into a modern city, impres-
sive in appearance.

The Ottoman intellectual Sami Bey Frashery de-
scribed the city of Bitola/Manastir at the end of the
nineteen centuries as follows:

...the central town of a vilayet, with a popula-
tion of 31,347. There are twenty-four mosques, five
churches, nine Turkish theological schools, a primary
school and a military school, a Turkish junior high
school for girls and for boys, and a school for Bulgar-
ians, the Greeks and Wallachians, junior high schools
for Catholic and Protestants missionaries, two large
barracks, a military hospital, 2482 shops and mar-
kets, fourteen inns, seven baths, one clock tower. The
kaza of Manastir has a population of 161, 863.'
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But, the Golden age of sixteen-century monumen-
tal mosque buildings had long passed. There was no
significantly monumental mosque, of the eighteen-
century. Instead the city looked towards European
architectural fashion. The urban and religious archi-
tecture was influenced by architectural pluralism and
pragmatism, which radiated from the imperial city on
the Bosphorus and from Salonica. High-ranking Otto-
man officials from the provinces were patrons of the
building activities: it seems that the officials sponsored
the construction of mosques on the Balkans, partly
because the Ottoman ruling elite originated from the
Balkan provinces. A number of these patrons were
military or administrative officials, and wealthy peo-
ple. The mosques belonging to the Sultan’s officials
were frequently built in the various parts of Rumeli.
The difference was that those in the provinces were
generally smaller and more modest than the Imperial
ones in Istanbul. Some political power-holders created
pious foundations or renovated the main mosques to
consolidate their reputation among the town people.
Their edifices were to show off their local status or
their religious beliefs.? During the nineteen-century a
number of the main places of Islamic worship in Toli
Manastir were renovated such were:

- The Isa Fakih mosque of 1505 was renovated in
1259 AH/1843, as recorded in the marble inscription
on the minaret.

I Sami Bey Frachery, Dictionnaire universelle
d’histoire et de geographie, 1-1V, Constantinople 1889-
1898; Sami S. Bey, Kamusu 'l —Alam, Istanbul 1316/1988-
1898, 4437-4446; Macedonia, documents and materials,
op. cit., 441-443.

2 S. Faroqhi, Subjects of the Sultans, Culture and Daily
life in the Ottoman Empire, London, New York 2000, 233
— 236; F. Yenisehiroglu, ‘Architectural patronage of Ayan
families in Anadolia’, Provincial elites in the Ottoman
Empire, (ed. Anasaspoulos) Rethymne 2005, 321-329.



Fig. 1. A photo of Bitola/Manastir from Tumbeki

- The Kadi Ishak Chelebi mosque was remodeled
after lightning damaged the minaret and portico. The
portico was enlarged with domes and the cemetery
around the mosque was extended. Rumeli Mushir
Reshad Pasha was buried there in 1846.

- The Hadji Mahmud Bey mosque (1521-1522)
was renovated in 1293 AH/1875, April 19, according
the marble plaque above the entrance.

-The Yeni Cami or Kadi Mahmud efendi
mosque was renewed and a portico was added in
1308AH/1890.

- The Uch Sheihler or Hamza Bey mosque was
renovated in 1857-58 and a marble plaque was set
above the main gate.

- The Hasan Baba mosque of 1628-1640 was
renovated by Fazli Pasha, a Commander of the Third
Ottoman army in 1883.

During the eighteen-nineteen centuries, instead of
a dome on top of the building, the local mosques were
covered by a hip-roof structure. It was the dominant
type of mosque in this period. Usually these buildings
were of modest dimensions. Most of them were built
according to local architectural traditions, though in-
fluenced by the mosques in the capital city. Thus, sta-
lactite decorations and Ottoman style windows min-
gled with western architectural forms.? Such eclectic
styles can be seen in all the mosques and even in
the architecture of some synagogues and churches.*

3 S.S. Blair and J.M Bloom, The Art and Architecture
of Islam, 1250-1800, New Haven and London 1994, 230.

4 U. Bates, “Facades in Ottoman Cairo”, The Ottoman
City and its parts, urban structure and social order, (ed. J.
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There were a few provincial mosques erected in Bi-
tola/Manastir during the eighteen and nineteen cen-
turies: Emir Bey mosque was built by the governor
of Rumeli, Yegen Ali Pasa in 1205 AH/1790; Silah-
dar Mehmed Pasha mosque in 1180AH/1767; and
Huseyn Pasa mosque, built by the order of Rumeli
Valisi Huseyn Pasha in 1816.° Some of the mosque
patrons were locally well-known merchants, heads
of the guilds or Muslim clergy, or members of the
rich Ottoman Muslim aristocracy: Egrikash or Ay-
she Hanum mosque was renovated during the eigh-
teen century by Madame Ayshe Hanum; Sarachane
Bashi Meschid was erected in 1203AH/1788, by the
head of the horse equipment guild; and the Meschid
of Misirli Hodja Ahmed was erected by Misir Hodja
Ahmed Efendi in the nineteen century.®

In the eighteen-nineteen centuries, mosques and
mesdjids in Manastir were designed by architects fa-
miliar with Ottoman religious architecture in Istan-
bul, but most of the buildings were constructed by the
local masters-builders. It may be that the plans, draw-
ings or designs for major buildings were prepared in

Bierman, R. Abou-El-Haj, D. Preziosi), New York 1991,
130-133,169 n.8; A. Pasi¢, Islamic Architecture in Bosnia
and Herzegovina, Istanbul 1994, 61-67; G. Goodwin, 4
History of Ottoman Architecture, London 1971, 414 —
417, JL.Kymbapayu-borojeBuk, Ocmannucku cnomenuyu
00 Crkonje, Cxomje 1998.

5 E.H. Ayverdi, Osmanli Mimarisinde Celebi — Mu-
rat Devri, cilt. 11, Istanbul 1972, 954; M. Teduk, Kparka
UCcTOpHUja OuToJbaKoOr BHIajeTa, bpacmeo, 27, (npeson I.
Ene3osuk) beorpan 1933

¢ Ayverdi, op. cit., 96.
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Fig. 2. Besim Pasha mosque

local or sometimes in imperial offices. The training
of the masters-builders seems to have been carried
out locally, as was the case with Ustabashi Mateya
Grdanov from Krushevo, George Novakov — Djon-
gar from the village of Papradishte, or Maystor Gine
from Smilevo village. 7 In addition, the final com-
position of the facade was affected by the building
materials or architectural style, which was fashion-
able at the imperial architectural offices. In general
the Classical Ottoman architectural plans, horizontal
forms and vertical elevations have survived in their
original format, but with some slight variations:

Plastic low-relief decoration was used in the fash-
ioning of the capitals, portals, the mihrab (a niche
indicating the direction to Mecca) and the minbar
(pulpit), which were ornamented with geometrical
motives of an oriental origin and hanging decoration
which gave the appearance of stalactites.... The mo-
tives of the painted decorations were of vegetal or
geometric origin. 8

On the one hand the most prevalent, Classical dec-
orative style was transformed by a puritan reduction

7 Goodwin, op. cit., 1971, 422 — 425; K. TomoBcKH,
‘[lamuu Bo burona’ 36opnux na Texwuukuom ¢paxynmem,
opoj 1956/57, 38; U. Bates, ‘Facades in Ottoman Cairo,’
The Ottoman city and its parts, urban structure and so-
cial order, (ed. J. Brierman et alii), New York 1991, 131;
A. BacunueB. bbvreapcku  6b3podicOeHCKU  MAUCMOpU,
arcusonucyu, pesdapu, cmpoumenu, Codust ,1965, 209, 283.

8 K.Tomovski, ‘Islamic architecture and Art in Mace-
donia’ The Socialist Republic of Macedonia, Skopje
1974, 140; K. TomoBcku, ‘Hcmamcka apxuTekTypa’,
Yuemnuwromo 60ocamcmeo na Maxedonuja, Cxorje,
1984, 240-244.
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and the rejection of unnecessary decorative details.
On the other, the interiors and Mihrab wall had mod-
erately ornate painted decoration. The painted floral
ornaments and landscapes represented in Islamic ico-
nography had their roots in the Koran and Islamic
Eschatological texts regarding heavenly landscapes.’

According to the Turkish historian of Ottoman
Architecture, H.E. Ayverdi,' it is possible to follow
the number of new or renovated mosques and mes-
cids in the city of Toli Manastir, from preserved Otto-
man Cadastral archival documents. For some of them
there is only modest information or an alternative
name, since a number of mosques and mescids were
ruined by the wars, natural disasters and time. Still,
the following list can be compiled for the eighteen
and nineteen centuries,

- The Ali Pasha Cami of 1153 AH/ 1740. Ali Pasa
was a clerk (Defterdar) at the Imperial palace,

- The Emir Bey Cami was erected in the same city
quarter Emi Bey, on the left side of the river Dragor.
The patron was Yegen Ali Pasha, Governor of Rume-
lia. He built a medresa and library in the mosque’s
court. Yegen Ali Pasha was appointed as governor
in 1164/1750 and stayed one and a half years in this
position,

- The Silahdar Mehmed Pasha Cami, built by the
Governor of Rumeli, Silahdar Mehmed Pasha, in the
quarter known as Yakub Bey, around 1180AH/1767.

? A. Pasic, Islamic Architecture in Bosnia and Herzegov-
ina, Istanbul 1994, 61-67; Faroghi, op. cit., 2000, 236 — 239.

0 E.H. Ayverdi, Asimpada Osmanli mimari eserleri
Yugoslavya,lll cild, Istanbul 1981.



Fig. 3.Sherif Bey mosque

- The Azeb Bey Cami built in 1203 AH/1788.

- The Husrev Kethuda Cami, of around 1203 AH/
1788.

- The Sarachane Bashi mesdjid, built in 1203
AD/1788.

- The Hadji Hasan Cami, in the quarter of Sinan
Bey, of 1269 AH/1852.

- The Hadji Nuri Efendi mesdjid in the quarter
Sinan Bey, near the cemetery.

- The Huseyn Pasha Cami was built by the Gover-
nor of Rumeli, Huseyn Pasha after 1816, in the vicin-
ity of the Grand Palace (Saray).

- The Misirli Hodja Ahmed Cami, of the nineteen
century.

- The Faik Pasha Cami, was in the Upper city, in
Muhadjir mahalla, and the Hadji Dogan mesdjidi on
Ilindenska street. '!

One of the surviving nineteen-century mosques
is Sherif Bey Cami. The building is located on the
right bank of the river Dragor, behind of the Musi-
cal school building, “... in the middle of the city” as
Mehmed Tewfik commented in his book.!?

According to a preserved marble plaque, the
mosque and medresa were erected by Mehmed Zade
Sherif Ahmed Bey from Ohrid in 1244 AH/1828."
For the maintenance of his pious Vakif he left a large
endowment. The marble plaque, with dimensions of

! Ayverdi, op. cit., 95-96.
12 Tegux, op. cit., 214.
13 During his visit of Ohrid in 1848, Edward Lear met

Mahmud Zade Serif Mehmed Bey in person. Edward
Lear s Journals, a selection,(ed.H.V. Thal), London 1952..
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82 x 51 cm, contains a text in Ottoman Turkish, writ-
ten with arabic letters, refering to the medresa: “The
benefactor of this welfare centre (Hayrat) is the Pa-
sha of Ohrid, Mahmud Zade Sherif Ahmed Bey.”!*

The building is partly preserved. It is a simple
rectangular base covered by a hipped roof and terra-
cotta tiles. On the southern side the base of the mina-
ret still exists. The corners of the building were built
of stone blocks. The fagade was decorated with Neo
classical stucco decoration characteristic of large
rectangular buildings of nineteen century European
architecture. These days the buildings of the mosque
and its medresa are used as a dwelling. In one of the
rooms the stucco decoration indicating the Mihrab is
still visible.

Another mosque from 1903 is preserved in the Up-
per parts of the town and is called “Hatuniye*“(Lady’s)
mosque. It is possible that the modest mosque build-
ing was the last representative place of worship built
before the Balkan Wars (1912). A wall enclosed the
building with a minaret and a small cemetery. It was
situated in the old Muslim quarter known as Bali
Voyvoda. It has an unusual name--Hatuniye means
that the founder was a distinguished lady. The mosque
may be connected with the cult of Rabiya Hatun
(Rabi’a al Adawiyya al Qaysiyya, who lived between
714 and 801in Basra), a famous Muslim saint. ' Her
cult was spread in the Balkans by Bektashi dervishes
and there is a tekke in Albania dedicated to her cult.
According to Mehmed Tewfik there was a sacred

4 Translated into Macedonian by Professor Mucait
Asimov, for which I am very grateful.

15 Ayverdi, op. cit., 107; L. Gamell , The Dervishes of
Turkey, London 1990, 170-177.



Fig.4, The marble plaque of Sherif Bey mosque

well known as “Bogday bunar” (Wheat well) in the
vicinity of Hatuniye mosque. In 1269AH/1848-49,
miraculously, wheat grains were found in the crystal
waters of the well.'® Alternatively, ‘Hatuniye’ may
be connected with the title, which was given to the
Sultan’s legal wives in the early dynastic period.

The Hatuniye mosque is a modest rectangular
building 13.5 m. x 8.55 m. with a portico on the west.
Modern terracotta tiles cover the pitched roof. The
minaret on the right side is short and whitewashed,
with a simple decoration on the Sherefet balcony.
Above the entrance a marble plaque in Arabic letters
contains the following inscription in Ottoman Turkish:

This Kible is the most important

spot on this place.

They say when you enter this place,

you should have the highest respect.

In this place, worshipping is a reverence.

Without any doubt this is a house of Salvation
(Dar-ul Salam).

With the highest love, we should repeat,
the name of Allah.

In this house you should ask,

anything you need from God.

Jamad Al Uhra 1323/1903 (September) !’

During the nineteen-century a number of the city’s
traditional places of worship were renovated, and

16 Tefik, op. cit., 223-224.

17 Translated into Macedonian by Nedjbeddin Hodja,
to whom I am grateful. The English version is my own
translation.
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their interiors were refurbished, or repainted, as re-
corded in commemorative marble plaques. This was
the case, for example, of Uch Sheihler or Hamza Bey
in 1857 - 58; Hadji Bey in 1875; Hasan Baba in 1883;
Yeni cami in 1890 and Ishakkiye, which was special-
ly adapted for the Sultan Reshad V’s visit in 1908. An
Imperial loggia (Hunkar mahfili) for the Sultan and
his family was erected on the northwestern side of the
prayer hall. The wall paintings, inscriptions from the
Koran and heavenly landscapes were repainted by an
unknown artist, around 1910-1912.'3

In contrast to the Orthodox churches and the syna-
gogues lost between the town houses and districts,
the mosque’s minarets stood out. When Edward Lear
visited Manastir in 1848, he created a small collec-
tion of panoramas and views of the city dominated by
the minarets of Ishakkiye, Yeni, Haydar Kadi, Sungur
Chaus, the Clock tower and the mausoleum called
Kizlar Bey Turbe."” ” Either looking up or down the
river, the intermixture of minarets and mosques with
cypress and willow foliage, forms subjects of the
most admirable beauty.”*

The Sufi Brotherhoods in Bitola/Manastir and
their lodges played an important role in Ottoman
social and spiritual life. Many of the Sufis’ tekkes
were located in the predominantly Muslim quarters.

8TomoBckH, op., cit., 1957/58, 44, n. 65; P. Momuauk,
‘[lammjara Ucxaxk Yemebu Bo buroma’, 36opunux Ha
mpyoosu Ha 3a6000M 3a 3AUIMUMA HA CROMEHUYyUme Ha
Kynmypam, mysej u earepuja, 1, (1979), 66.

19P. MuxajoBck, ‘HekolKy OCMaHINCKH CIIOMEHHUIIH
on burona’ Kynimypro nacneocmeo, 26-27, (2001) 65 —81.

2 Edward Lears Journals, a selection,(ed.H.V. Thal),
London 1952, 27.



Fig. 5, Hatuniye mosque marble plaque

Beside the mosques with their prayers, rituals and
holy days, the Sufi orders (tarikats) provided crucial
relations between religious people and their social
functions. The teachings of each dervish brotherhood
had its own variants, but all tarikats had in com-
mon their mysticism towards God and their search
for personal enlightenment. The most popular were
those of Nakshbendis, Rifais, Bektashis, and Halveti.
They were politically powerful and belonged to dif-
ferent social classes. The Brotherhood of Bektashis,
which drew on the lower classes including the Janis-
saries, was suppressed by the reforms of Mahmud I1
in 1826. One of the Bektashi leaders from Manastir,
Esad Baba was taken to Constantinople where he was
publicly executed for his beliefs.?!

Among the most popular tarikats in the city of
Manastir were the Rifai with two tekkes, and the
Nakshbendi, Bektashis and Halveti with one tekke
each. Most of these lodges were visited and described
by Hasluck, an English traveler throughout Ottoman
Empire.”> He described the tekkes, graves of the
saints, holy places and mausoleums in Manastir, as a
“Provincial Pantheon™:

2L V. Mirmiroglou, Oi Dervissi, Ekati, 1940, 45; D.
Quataert, The Ottgoman Empire 1700-1922, Cambridge,
New York, Oakleigh, 2000, 161-162; P.M. Holt, A.K.S.
Lambton, B. Lewis, The Cambridge history of Islam ,v.11,
Cambridge 1970, 604-631; A. Pallis, In the days of the
Janissaries, old Turkish life as depicted in the “Travel —
book”of Eviiya Chelebi, London, New York, Melbourne,
Sydney, Cape Town 1951, 157-173.

22 F.W. Hasluck, Christianity and Islam under the Sul-
tans, Oxford 1929.
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The following description of the pilgrimages
and holy places of the large provincial town of Mo-
nastir, all of simple type, little, if at all, affected by
the learned classes, may be deemed not without inter-
est for Turkish mythology.

There are four tekkes, all small, belonging respec-
tively to the Rifai (two), Nakshbandi, and Bektashi
orders. Of these that of the Nakshbandi alone seems
to be of importance for popular religion.

The first Rifai tekke stands off the main street of
the town. Its precincts have been much curtailed by
the widening of the street. It contains the tomb of
Mahmud Dede, the founder, who is supposed to have
lived at the time of conquest.” The second, which
stands on the outskirts of the town, was founded by
Sheikh Nazmi Efendi in 1276 (1895-60), who is there
buried with other saints, including Sheikh Mehmed
of Allepo.*

The Bektashi tekke, also on the outskirts of the
town, has outwardly the appearance of a well-to-do
Turkish house and is discreetly walled. It contains
the tomb of the martyr Husain Baba in an octogonal
turbe built in 1289 (1872-3).%

2 The tekke was in the central area between the main
street, the Catholic church and the Worker’s University. It
was described by Tewfik Mehmed as Rifai tekke “Lokan-
ta”. It was established by Mahmud Baba during the reign
of Selim II (1566-1574), see: Teduk, op. cit., 224.

24 The tekke was on the western outskirts of the town,
near the river Dragor and the place Hanlar—I-onu, where
once a large Turkish cemetery exist. Tedux, op. cit., 224.

% The tekke still exists today. See Hasluck, op. cit.,



Fig.6, A mosque after the WW1 bombardment of Bitola

The Nakshbandi tekke, in the same quarter, is
more important from our point of view as contain-
ing the tomb of Hasan Baba, which is famous for his
miracles.? The saint is said to have fallen under the
displeasure of a sultan, who sent men to hang him.
Fleeing from them, the saint had turbes built at many
places through which he passed, in order to deceive
the sultan into believing him dead. Consequently,
cenotaphs of Hasan Baba exist in various parts, as
at Kossovo, Uskub, Adrianople, Constantinople (in
Divan Yolu), Anatolia, and Egypt. Beside each turbe
is a mosque. Monastir naturally claims the authentic
tomb. The humble turbe containing the grave of the
saint is specially frequented by women who cannot
bring forth and children who cannot walk. The for-
mer find relief by contact with the beads of the saint,
and the latter by being supported three times round
the grave and leaving behind them the wooden pat-
tens with which the circumambulation is performed.
Kurban?’ is erected for that purpose outside the turbe;

524. It is in the vicinity of the Hasan Baba mosque. The
founder Mahmud Baba died in 1848/49.
26 Hasluck, op. cit., 356.

27 Kurban--a sacrifice or sacrificial victim. It is applied
to the Muslim ritual to sacrifice an animal. In Turkish
speaking countries this is known as Kurban-Bayram.
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by a miraculous coincidence the saint receives every
year exactly three hundred and sixty-six such offer-
ings, one for each day. Many rags are affixed to the
turbe windows.?

Among the most prominent members of the Naksh-
bendi Brotherhood in Bitola were Hadji Said Efendi,
around 1785; Numan Baba, Efgani Sheykh Mehmed
Efendi c.1887, and Kitapchi Mustapha ¢.1887.%

Another brotherhood of Halveti dervishes had its
early beginnings at Bitola/Manastir in the last de-
cades of the eighteen century. It was begun by the
Sufi leader Sheykh Mehmed Hayati from Ohrid,
who founded the Halveti tekkes in Manastir, Kes-
rye/Kastoria, Hlerin/Filurina and to-day Albania.
In Bitola his followers were Ibrahim, Abdul Kerim
and Ahmed, known as Three Sheykhs (Uch Seihler).
They were buried in a turbe opposite the mosque Uch
Seihler or Hamza bey.*® The tekke and turbe were ru-
ined in 1911 and suffered heavy damage during the
First World War.?!

Hasluck observes in his notes that he went on pil-
grimage to all the tombs of the local Sufi saints and
holy places.*? In such a provincial pantheon Hasluck
found some relics from the past connected with the
early Islamisation of the area, as well as some pre-
Christian customs and old Balkan beliefs. Visiting
the tombs of the local holy men was widely practised
and visitors prayed at the tombs for the saints’ inter-
cession, lighting candles, placing offerings or even
sleeping near the graves. The supplicants offered a
present in the form of clothing, a prayer rug, a sac-
rificial lamb, a coin or ribbon in order to obtain the
miraculous blessing from the saint. A number of such
holy places were connected with pre-Christian sites
with holy water (Agiazmo) and holy places. In this
way the Muslims and Christians often venerated the
same place, tomb or holy spring, only using different
names. Mehmed Tewfik described some of the Mus-
lim sanctuaries in Manastir in his book published in
1911.3° Hasluck and Tewfik are the most valuable

28 Hasluck, op. cit., 356-357.

2 Teduk op. cit., 224-226.

30 Tedux, op. cit., 234.

31 G. Palikruseva—K. Tomovski, “Les tekkes en Mace-
doine, aux 18e — 19 e siecle”,International Congress of
Turkish art 1963, Venice, Atti del Secondo Congresso
internazionale di arte turca, Napoli, Istituto Univer-
sitario Orientale, seminario di turcologia, 1965, 203 —
213; I. Ianukpymesa, ‘lepBUIIKUOT pen XalBeTH BO

Makenonunja’, 300pHuK Ha WMUNCKUOM HApoOeH my3ej,
op. 1, Ultum, 1959, 105 —119.

32 Hasluck, op. cit., 356-360.

33 Tedux, op. cit., 211-214, 216-230; Faroghi op. cit.,
2000, 199 — 202.



sources for understanding the Islamic spirituality in
the area of Bitola/Manastir, influenced by ancient
Balkan beliefs and superstitions. In his personal pil-
grimages through the Bitola area Hasluck visited
the main places, such as: Bunar Baba, a sacred well
traditionally patronized by the Muslims and also by
Christians; the tower of Kuleli Mahmud Khirka Dede
or Zandan Kule; the graves of Chetim Tess Baba,
Jigher Baba, Merhum Baba or Tez Veren near the
Yeni Hammam; the Kizlar Bey turbe; and the grave
of Khalil Baba dating from 1183 (1769-1770) at the
graveyard of Yeni mosque.** A number of holy places
were mentioned by Tewfik, including the local oral
legends noted by MarkoTsepenkov in his “Legends”,
such as Krkardas or Forty friends (martyrs) and the
Crooked mill-Kriva vodenica (Egri Degirmen) on the
northern outskirts of the town.*

During the second half of the nineteen-century
Ottoman Muslims and Christians came under West-
ern educational influences. All parts of the Ottoman
Empire were affected, the Balkan areas in some ways
more profoundly from the rest.*® The great advantage
of'these schools was to teach French, which opened up
a new world of ideas and western scientific concepts.
The traditional primary (Sibyan) and higher medresa
schools were changed from their traditional charac-
ter into state schools: Mekteb I-Rushdiye, Idadiyeh,
military and medical colleges, which included female
education.’” The town of Bitola /Manastir played an
important role as a center of learning, education and
literature for Muslims, Christians and Jews turning
towards Western models. According to the Imperial

3 Hasluck, op. cit., 358-359.; Muxajnoscku, op. cit.,
2001, 69 —72, 76 — 80.

3Teduk, op. cit., 216-225; M. Ilenenkos, [Ipedanuja,
7, Cxomje, 1972, 206; A. CrepjoBcku, ‘Tomormmot Kpk
—Kkapgamr Bo burona‘, Jasuunu nojasu eo bumona u
bumoncko Oenecka u 6o munamomo, Ckomje 1988, 311-
321; People of Turkey: twenty years residence among
Bulgarians, Greeks, Albanians, Turks and Armenians, by
a consul’s daughter and wife, (ed. L.Poole) London 1878,
236-237; Zhelyazkova, op. cit., 257, “...the Forty martyrs
venerated by Christians found their place in esoteric Is-
lamic teachings, where they could be identified with the
holy figures known as the kirklar.”

3¢ R.H.Davison, Essays in the Ottoman and Turkish his-
tory 1774-1923, the impact of the West, Austin 1990,167,;
Quataert, op. cit., 2000, 167-168.

7). Shaw and E. Shaw, History of the Ottoman Em-
pire and modern Turkey, vol. 1I, Cambridge, London,
New York, Melbourne, 1977, 106-115; B. Lewis, The
Emergence of Modern Turkey, London, New York, To-
ronto 1965, 111-112; M. Kapaxacan, ‘O0pa3zoBaHHETO
Bo MakenoHuja 3a BpeMeTo Ha TaH3umatot’, 300pHux 3a
WKOICMBOMO, Npoceemama u Kyimypama 6o Maxedonuja,
60 8pememo Ha npepoodbama, Cxomje , 1974, 645-660.
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Russian consul in Salonica and Manastir, Nikolay
Skryabin in the year 1883/84 there were two second-
ary and eight primary schools for the Muslim popula-
tion in Manastir.*® In the period 1902-1910 the most
well-known primary Muslim schools in the town
were: Karadibak okulu, Haci Dogan okulu, Imaret,
Buyuk Sadirvan, Uc Seihler okulu, Numune okulu;
and later there were Dar’ul-muallimin, Cinar okulu
or Resmi inasi Rushti and Adem Mahmut okulu.*

The nineteen-century Bitola was already devel-
oped city as a centre of Rumeli Vilayet and Third
Army corps. It had an important historical role in the
last days of Ottoman Empire and in the development
of the new Balkan states.

3 N. Skryabin, Politicheskiya I ekonomicheskiya sve-
deniya o bitolskom vilayete, rosiisko imperartorskovo vit-
sekonsulom, Bitoliya 1885, 17; 1. Jonecku, M. Kokasnescka-
Tanesa, ‘PazBojor Ha npocBerTa Bo burona’, Tsopewmsono
Ha bpakama Manaxu, Cxomje, 1996, 351-387.

3 M. Tbrahimgil, “Educational buildings in Bitola dur-
ing the Ottoman rule”, Afaturk ve Bitola, (ed. E. Hasanoglu
and S. Miladinovski), Ankara, Bitola 1998, 109-122, 109.

* Dr Robert Mihajlovski. La Trobe University, Bundoo-
ra 3086, Vic., Australia. e-mail: r.mihajlovski@latrobe.edu.



Pobepr MUXAJJIIOBCKM

OCMAHCKA PEJIMTUO3HA APXUTEKTYPA U KYJITYPA BO BUTOJIA / MAHACT P
BO JEBETHAECETTHUOT BEK

Pezume

OBaa ctymmja ja 00paboTyBa OCMaHCKaTa peiv-
TMO3Ha apXUTEKTypa Ha buTona Bo JIeBETHACCETTHOT
BeK, M0TOa Cy(DHCKHUTE PEOBU U HUBHUTE YCTAHOBU
BO TPaJIOT, KaKO W MPErIeNOT U PAa3BUTOKOT HA MO-
JIEpHUTE OCMAHCKH YYWIMIIHU YCTAHOBH T0]] BIIWja-
HHETO Ha JIEMOKPATCKUTE pedopmu.

Bo 19-trot Bek rpagot butona mpepacHa Bo MO-
JIepeH LIeHTap Ha aIMUHUCTPAaTHBHATA ¥ BOCHATa YII-
paBa Ha Pymenuckuor BuiajeT , 100MBajKH KOCMOTIO-
nuTcku kapakrep. Ho, 3a xan ‘3nmatHuoT nepuoza’ Ha
amMHcKaTa apxuTektypa oxn 16-17 Bek onamHa Oerie
OZIMHHATAa, TaKa Ja MoBeKe ce 0OHOBYBaa MOCTOCUKH-
T€ PENMTHO3HMU O00jEeKTH HMITH C€ Tpajiea Mo CKPOMHHU
o0jexTu.yka Tpeba Jja ce CIIOMeHaT JBE Malli [JaMHH
Kako IpUMEpOLM Ha 0BOj mepuox a toa ce: Llepud
Oerosa rjamuja of 1828 Bo Onu3nHaTa Ha My3UYKOTO
YUWIIMIITE Kako 1 XaTtyHuje yamuja of 1903 roguna
BO TOPHUTE JICTIOBU Ha TPAJIOT.

[Jamujara Ha Illepud bej Oeme usrpageHa of
Mexwmen 3ane [llepud Axmen 6ej mo morexino ox Ox-
pun Bo 1828. Op oBaa 3rpaja ce COUyBaHH JIEJIOBHU
071 MHHAPETOT KaKO €/JHa MEpPMEpHA IIoYa CO apari-
CKU-OCMaHCKH Hatnuc: ¢ JloOponeTenor Ha oBaa Oia-
rogeTHa ycraHoBa (Xajpar) e e mamara ox Oxpun,
Mexwmen 3ane Llepud 6ej‘. Ensapn Jleap ro cperna
0BOj YoBeK Bo OXpu mpu cBojaTa mocera Bo 1848.

[Tammjara Xaryauje om 1903 ce Haora Bo HEKO-

ramHoTo Maajo bamm BojBoma. Mokebu caMoTo
HM€ €MOBP3aHO CO KYJITOT Ha CPEAHOBEKOBHATA CBE-
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tutenka on barmax, Pabuje Xaryn momymapeH kaj
JEPBUILKUTE PEAOBH, Kako 1 OyHApOT BO OIM3HMHATA
‘bynaj Oynap‘. Han Bie30T Bo ckpoMHaTa [jamuja e
COYYyBaH HATMHC Ha aparcko-ocMaHcku: OBa kubie
€ HajBAXHOTO Ha OBa MECTO/BejaM Kora Ke BIIe3ell
oBJie/Tpeda J1a mMall MajrojieMa IMoYrT/Ha 0Ba MECTO
MoiuTBara € HajoOoxyBaHa/be3 comHeHue oBa 110-
MoT Ha cniacot ([ap yn canam)/ co HajBHCOKa JbyOOB
Tpeba Ja MoBTOpyBaMe/BO OBOj oM Tpeba ga Gapar
/ce mto 1 Tpeba ox bor./[lamax an Yxpa 1323 no
Xwunpa/ cerrremBpu 1903.

Bo noHaraMomIHNOT TEKCT € MperienoT Ha cyd-
UCKUTE U JEePBULIKUTE peaoBH BO 19 Bek Bo butona.
Hajnosnaru 6une Hakmbennu, Pydan, Xansetu n
Bexramu. Cropen aHIIMCKHOT MaTeNHcen Xaciayk
BO cBojara cryauja ‘[IpoBHHIIMCKHM MAaHTEOH  TOj Ha-
Opojysa 4 Texuma: n8e Pydau, eqno Hakmbennu u
enHo bexramu. Ho umano u yimre enHo XajiBeTu
kaj pamujara Yu lllenxnep. McTo Taka T0oj HaGpOjy-
Ba M CBETHM MeCTa W TpoOOBH HHU3 TpagoT: [lurep
baba, Te3 Bepen baba, Xacan baba, Xupka baba n
K*3map TypbOe.

Bo moHaTaMOIIHUOT TEKCT € JaJieH Pa3BHUTOKOT
Ha MOJICPHUTE AP>KaBHU M BOCHM IIKOJIM HalpaBe-
HH TI07l BIMjaHHE Ha 3alaJlHOEBPOIICKUTE MPUMEPU
¥ OTBOPEHH CO MOJEPHHUTE CYNTAHCKH PeHOPMH,KAKO
mrro Oune: Kapanubak, Xanu J{oan, byjyk llaagpsan,
Vu Illeuxnep, HymyHe kako e jeH Opoj Ha BOEHU
UIKOJIM U CPOJTHU MHCTHUTYIIUH BO TPAJIOT.
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